
Minutes ID: 1392 

*CM1392* 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING 
OF THE 

ASSEMBLY COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION 
 

Seventy-Eighth Session 
May 28, 2015 

 
The Committee on Education was called to order by Chair Melissa Woodbury at 
4:48 p.m. on Thursday, May 28, 2015, in Room 3142 of the Legislative 
Building, 401 South Carson Street, Carson City, Nevada.  The meeting was 
videoconferenced to Room 4406 of the Grant Sawyer State Office Building, 
555 East Washington Avenue, Las Vegas, Nevada.  Copies of the minutes, 
including the Agenda (Exhibit A), the Attendance Roster (Exhibit B), and other 
substantive exhibits, are available and on file in the Research Library of the 
Legislative Counsel Bureau and on the Nevada Legislature's website at 
www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/78th2015.  In addition, copies of the 
audio or video of the meeting may be purchased, for personal use only, 
through  the Legislative Counsel Bureau's Publications Office (email: 
publications@lcb.state.nv.us; telephone: 775-684-6835). 
 
COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT: 
 

Assemblywoman Melissa Woodbury, Chair 
Assemblyman Lynn D. Stewart, Vice Chair 
Assemblyman Elliot T. Anderson 
Assemblyman Derek Armstrong 
Assemblywoman Olivia Diaz 
Assemblywoman Victoria A. Dooling 
Assemblyman Chris Edwards 
Assemblyman Edgar Flores 
Assemblyman David M. Gardner 
Assemblyman Pat Hickey 
Assemblywoman Amber Joiner 
Assemblyman Harvey J. Munford 
Assemblywoman Shelly M. Shelton 
Assemblywoman Heidi Swank 

 
COMMITTEE MEMBERS ABSENT: 
 

None 
  

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/78th2015/Exhibits/Assembly/ED/AED1392A.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/78th2015/Exhibits/AttendanceRosterGeneric.pdf


Assembly Committee on Education 
May 28, 2015 
Page 2 
 
GUEST LEGISLATORS PRESENT: 
 

Senator Joyce Woodhouse, Senate District No. 5 
Senator Scott T. Hammond, Senate District No. 18 

 
STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT: 
 

H. Pepper Sturm, Committee Policy Analyst 
Kristin Rossiter, Committee Policy Analyst 
Karly O'Krent, Committee Counsel 
Sharon McCallen, Committee Secretary 
Trinity Thom, Committee Assistant 

 
OTHERS PRESENT: 
 

Crystal Abba, Vice Chancellor, Academic and Student Affairs, Nevada 
System of Higher Education 

Luis F. Valera, Vice President, Government Affairs and Diversity 
Initiatives, University of Nevada, Las Vegas 

Michael Flores, representing the College of Southern Nevada 
James Campos, representing Nevada State College 
Kyle Dalpe, Chief of Staff, Associate Dean, President's Office, Truckee 

Meadows Community College 
Jordan Davis, representing Las Vegas Metro Chamber of Commerce 
Tom Greene, Regional Advocacy Director, Western Region, Excellence in 

Education National 
Victor M. Salcido, Director of Policy and Strategy, Argentum Partners 
Andy Abboud, Senior Vice President, Government Relations and 

Community Development, Las Vegas Sands Corporation 
Cindy Jensen, Principal, Journey Education, Las Vegas, Nevada 
Jennifer Hammond, Private Citizen, Henderson, Nevada 
Sheila Salehian, Private Citizen, Las Vegas, Nevada 
Victor Joecks, Executive Vice President, Nevada Policy Research Institute 
Denise Lasher, representing American Federation for Children 
Janine Hansen, State President, Nevada Families for Freedom 
Elissa Wahl, Vice Chair, Nevada Homeschool Network, Carson City, 

Nevada 
Lindsay Anderson, Director, Government Affairs, Washoe County School 

District 
Joyce Haldeman, Associate Superintendent, Community and Government 

Relations, Clark County School District 
Mary Pierczynski, representing Nevada Association of School 

Superintendents  



Assembly Committee on Education 
May 28, 2015 
Page 3 
 

Jessica Ferrato, representing Nevada Association of School Boards  
Ruben Murillo, Jr., President, Nevada State Education Association 
Erin Bilbray, representing Nevada State Education Association 
Stacey Shinn, representing Progressive Leadership Alliance of Nevada 
Angie Sullivan, Private Citizen, Las Vegas, Nevada 
Peggy Lear Bowen, Private Citizen, Reno, Nevada 
Patrick Gavin, Director, State Public Charter School Authority 
 

Chair Woodbury: 
[Roll was taken.  Committee protocol and rules were explained.]  I am going to 
open the hearing on Senate Bill 128 (2nd Reprint). 

 
Senate Bill 128 (2nd Reprint):  Revises provisions relating to the Governor Guinn 

Millennium Scholarship. (BDR 34-96) 
 
Senator Joyce Woodhouse, Senate District No. 5: 
I am here today to introduce Senate Bill 128 (2nd Reprint).  During this past 
interim, I served as Chair of the Legislative Committee on Education.  One of 
the many topics we discussed was college completion—in particular, how can 
public policy better support the common goal of moving students through to 
a degree or certificate?  The committee received a recommendation for the 
Nevada System of Higher Education (NSHE) to increase the number of credits 
that a Millennium scholar must enroll in as well as the number of credits funded.  
In order to preserve the committee's bill draft request allocation, I did volunteer 
to carry this concept as a personal bill draft.  In other committee meetings and 
hearings, you have probably had the opportunity to hear the very informative 
and eye-opening presentation by Crystal Abba, Vice Chancellor of Academic and 
Student Affairs at the Nevada System of Higher Education (NSHE) on Complete 
College America.  I have had the good fortune to attend two conferences put on 
by Complete College America and believe that we need to move forward in our 
efforts to encourage students to complete their studies.   
 
A recent study of nearly 700,000 students who enrolled in a community college 
in 2008 found that those students who enrolled full time every semester had 
a 62 percent completion rate.  Those students with a mix of part-time and 
full-time semesters had a completion rate of 37 percent.  Those students 
enrolled part time every semester had a completion rate of only 12 percent.  
Thus, full-time students had a completion rate that was five times higher than 
part-time students.  [Referred to prepared remarks (Exhibit C).]   
 
I want to remind you of several very important factors.  First, this bill only 
applies to the Governor Guinn Millennium Scholarship program.  Second, the 
cadre of students that it targets are students graduating from high school and 

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/78th2015/Bill/1448/Overview/
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moving on to higher education institutions—therefore, 18- to 24-year-olds.  
Third, these are not the nontraditional students.  Fourth, NSHE indicates that 
more than half of the Millennium Scholarship students are enrolled full time.   
 
Senate Bill 128 (2nd Reprint) does two things.  One, it ramps up the number 
of credits that a community college Millennium scholar must take.  Currently, 
the minimum is 6 credit hours.  Senate Bill 128 (2nd Reprint) increases this 
to 9 credits beginning July 2015.  Two, the bill increases from 12 to 15 the 
maximum number of credits that may be funded for university students with the 
Millennium Scholarship.  The maximum cumulative scholarship that a student 
can receive remains at $10,000.   
 
We have all heard or been involved in discussions about the need to improve the 
educational achievement of Nevada's citizenry.  However, getting people into 
college is not enough.  We must also ensure that they exit college with a degree 
or a credential.  Senate Bill 128 (2nd Reprint) offers an opportunity to 
accomplish this goal and it is aligned with our completion agenda.   
 
In conclusion, I would like to draw your attention to two data sheets on the 
Governor Guinn Millennium Scholarship [(Exhibit D) and (Exhibit E)] that are 
included with your copy of my remarks (Exhibit C).  I urge your support of 
Senate Bill 128 (2nd Reprint). 
 
Crystal Abba, Vice Chancellor, Academic and Student Affairs, Nevada System 

of Higher Education: 
I would like to begin by thanking Senator Woodhouse for sponsoring this 
measure.  You have before you five slides (Exhibit F) that we have submitted to 
the Nevada Electronic Legislative Information System (NELIS).  I will not go into 
those in detail as you have seen them all before.   
 
What those slides show is that students who take a higher credit load are more 
likely to graduate, regardless of race or ethnicity; they are more likely to 
graduate regardless of academic preparation; and they are more likely to have 
a higher grade point average (GPA).  As Senator Woodhouse mentioned, this is 
all in support of our efforts through Complete College America to increase the 
percentage of students that graduate from our institutions, hence, moving 
the college attainment needle for the state.  One of the policy levers—one of the 
initiatives Complete College of America has recommended that we have 
adopted—is the 15 to Finish campaign.  That is a very targeted campaign that 
looks at 18- to 24-year-olds and encourages them to take 15 credits so they 
can graduate on time.  The challenge, and what we often hear from students as 
they go to enroll in 15 credits, is that the Millennium Scholarship only pays for 
12 credits, so they only take 12 credits. 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/78th2015/Exhibits/Assembly/ED/AED1392D.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/78th2015/Exhibits/Assembly/ED/AED1392E.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/78th2015/Exhibits/Assembly/ED/AED1392C.pdf
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I would like to share some data from the 15 to Finish campaign that was 
adopted in the first semester of implementation, which was fall 2014.  
The numbers are absolutely staggering.  For example, when you look at fall 
2012 data for Western Nevada College, students in the target population of 
18- to 24-year-olds averaged a 2.4 GPA if they took fewer than 12 credits 
versus a 2.8 GPA if they were taking 15 or more credits.  The College of 
Southern Nevada had a similarly staggering difference with a 2.3 GPA for 
part-time students versus a 2.75 GPA for students enrolled in at least 
15 credits.   
 
Those same significant gaps are there in terms of persistence rates.  Persistence 
measures the percentage of students who start in one term and continue to 
the next.  For those students who started in 15 credits in fall 2014 for 
Western Nevada College, the percentage that persisted was 83 percent versus 
65 percent for part-time students.  The University of Nevada, Reno (UNR) and 
the University of Nevada, Las Vegas (UNLV) had huge differences in the 
numbers.  Part-time students at UNR were 67.6 percent, while 92.4 percent of 
students enrolled in 15 or more credits continued to the next semester.  
You can see that the data is overwhelming.  It is true of students not only in 
Nevada but also nationally, as described on the last slide (Exhibit F).  You can 
see that there is very strong evidence that students who are enrolled in 
15 credits or more are more likely to graduate. 
 
Assemblyman Flores: 
I thank you both for this bill, and I applaud the intent.  It is great, and I am 
confident that it will benefit a lot of our students.  I do want to bring up 
a concern that I have brought up before.  Ultimately, the bottom line with this 
bill is that we want to make sure more students graduate.  Statistically, we 
think that is going to happen.   
 
I would like to present a different perspective, particularly in reference to some 
of the students with whom I have met in my district.  I understand the 
Millennium Scholarship.  The original intent is to keep some of our brightest 
students in Nevada.  Some of those talented students are parents or primary 
contributors to their household incomes; therefore, because they have to work, 
they do not have an option.  I want to speak specifically to that segment of that 
population—the talented student who has to work 30-plus hours—with the 
community college requirement going up to 9 credits.   
 
I would like to entertain the possibility of having a carve-out for students at the 
community college level who work 30-plus hours per week.  The intent of this 
bill is suggesting that if students are required to take the 9 credits, they will 
because they have no other option.  What I am concerned will ultimately happen 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/78th2015/Exhibits/Assembly/ED/AED1392F.pdf
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is that the students just will not do it because they have to keep working the 
30-plus hours per week.  Or, they may say they will enroll in the 9 credits, but 
if they are working full time, will they be successful in completing those 
9 credits effectively?  They will lose their scholarship.  Let us say they do enroll 
in the 9 credits because they have to, but then they are not successful in those 
9 credits.  Now they will lose their Millennium Scholarship, and statistically we 
are going to look good because the other students are going to graduate, but 
the ones who drop off are the students I am concerned about.   
 
I would really like the possibility of letting those students working 30-plus hours 
per week continue to take those 6 credits because they have to and do not 
have the luxury of an option.  You may not consider this a friendly amendment 
and may not consider working with that, but I wanted to put that on the record 
because I think it is very important to help those students in that specific 
scenario. 
 
Senator Woodhouse:  
I would not consider it an unfriendly amendment.  I know what you are 
speaking of because we have had these conversations regarding the 
Millennium Scholarship in trying to address the effort to have students complete 
their studies, whether it be a degree or a credential.  I know there is another bill 
that is in the Legislature.  I do not believe it has come over to the Assembly yet, 
but it is the Nevada Boost Grant Program brought forth by Senator Denis in an 
attempt to address the issue of those students who have to work, that there is 
an additional scholarship that could be added so that they would not have to 
work the 30 or 40 hours.  I certainly understand that.  After the meeting, we 
can talk about it a little bit more.  I am concerned about losing the intent of the 
Millennium Scholarship and of the completion agenda program. 
 
Crystal Abba: 
You are hitting on an issue that we grapple with every single day.  I have 
always seen the provisions of S.B. 128 (R2) as a companion to Senate Bill 227 
of this session, and a companion to Senator Denis' Boost Grant because what 
you are really talking about is the issue of affordability.  The challenge we 
would face if we did a carve-out for students who were working at least 
30 hours, so that they could become eligible for the scholarship under a 6-credit 
enrollment versus a 9-credit enrollment, would be an administrative challenge 
for our institutions.  We would have to ask them for proof of some form, or if 
we did not ask for proof, maybe we would ask them to sign an affidavit of 
some sort.  That would be the challenge; then the question is, would they be 
telling the truth when they sign it? 
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I do not know that there is a good answer to that, but I think what you are 
hitting on in the conversation that we have to have more of is that even with 
S.B. 227, even with the Boost Grant, we are still going to have an affordability 
issue when it comes to those students because those dollars are not going to go 
as far as we want them to go.  I do think it might merit a conversation offline 
with respect to the 6 credits to 9 credits because there would be some 
considerable administration challenges in terms of administering the award if 
you are asking students to provide proof that they have been working. 
 
Assemblyman Flores: 
Currently, do you have information on students who are providing any type of 
financial disclosure in filling out their application? 
 
Crystal Abba: 
We do not see what they put into the Free Application for Federal Student Aid 
form.  We get the Expected Family Contribution (EFC) data that comes out of it.  
I cannot look at that and see if the student or parent is working and how 
many  hours they are working.  What we get through a feed from the 
federal government is that EFC value. 
 
Assemblyman Flores: 
Do we have any programs in higher education now where students are required 
to provide proof of employment?  If we have them, how do they work? 
 
Crystal Abba: 
I am not aware of any need-based programs that are either supported with 
institutional dollars or with private dollars that have a requirement for 
a workload.  I can look into that and see if there are such things.  We do have 
work-study programs, but of course there the student is essentially working for 
the institution for a stipend or an award that they receive.  I am not aware of 
grants or scholarships that are tied to a work requirement. 
 
Assemblyman Flores:  
What I meant to say is, do we currently have students who report the amount 
of hours that they work?  If we do, can you tell me what programs they are and 
how that works? 
 
Crystal Abba: 
The only example that I am aware of where students would report their hours 
would be work-study programs where they are receiving dollars for working for 
the institution.  I am not aware of any other programs where students are 
reporting to the institutions the hours that they work. 
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Assemblywoman Shelton: 
We have heard a couple of other bills, Mr. Kirner's and Mr. Stewart's, 
with regard to this issue.  I think Mr. Kirner's died, but I think that 
Governor Sandoval signed Mr. Stewart's.  How do you see this working 
together with Mr. Stewart's bill? 
 
Senator Woodhouse: 
The way that we saw Mr. Stewart's bill when it came over to the Senate was 
that it is a companion piece.  They work together; they are not conflicted at all.  
I spoke with Mr. Kirner regarding his bill.  His was very similar to this one 
except his was staggered.  That bill did come to the Senate Committee on 
Education.  What we have done is, Mr. Kirner's name has been added to 
S.B. 128 (R2), so he is a cosponsor of this bill. 
 
Assemblyman Stewart:  
The Senator and I have worked very compatibly for several years.  I hope it will 
always continue. 
 
Luis F. Valera, Vice President, Government Affairs and Diversity Initiatives, 

University of Nevada, Las Vegas: 
We are in support of this bill. 
 
Michael Flores, representing the College of Southern Nevada: 
We are very thankful to Senator Woodhouse for this legislation, and we are in 
support as well. 
 
James Campos, representing Nevada State College: 
We are also in full support. 
 
Kyle Dalpe, Chief of Staff, Associate Dean, President's Office, 

Truckee Meadows Community College: 
I echo the sentiments of my colleagues.  We support this bill to help with 
access and the success on the part of our students.   
 
Jordan Davis, representing Las Vegas Metro Chamber of Commerce: 
We would also like to express our support for Senate Bill 128 (2nd Reprint). 
 
Chair Woodbury: 
Is there anyone either here or in Las Vegas in support of S.B. 128 (R2)?  [There 
was no one.]  Is there anyone in either location in opposition to S.B. 128 (R2)?  
[There was no one.]  Is there anyone who is neutral to S.B. 128 (R2)?  [There 
was no one.]  Are there closing comments? 
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Senator Woodhouse: 
I just want to say thank you very much for your time.  We appreciate the 
opportunity to speak with you about this measure.  I do urge your support.  
I will speak with Mr. Flores and see what else we can solve regarding his 
concern. 
 
Chair Woodbury: 
I am going to close the hearing on Senate Bill 128 (2nd Reprint) and open the 
hearing on Senate Bill 302 (2nd Reprint). 
 
Senate Bill 302 (2nd Reprint):  Establishes a program by which a child who 

receives instruction from a certain entity rather than from a public school 
may receive a grant of money in an amount equal to a certain percentage 
of the statewide average basic support per-pupil. (BDR 34-567) 

 
Senator Scott T. Hammond, Senate District No. 18: 
I am here to present Senate Bill 302 (2nd Reprint) for your consideration.  It has 
gone through a considerable amount of change since it was first introduced at 
the Senate level.  
  
I believe that school choice programs provide educational opportunities for 
students, and by enhancing competition in the public education system, can 
improve its performance.  Such programs also give low-income children an 
opportunity to improve their learning by transferring from public schools that do 
not meet their needs to private schools that do.  This option is currently 
available to families who can afford to pay private school tuition.  Such an 
inherently discriminatory system only serves to reinforce Nevada's demographic 
performance gaps.   
 
School choice also gives parents the flexibility to choose the method of 
instruction that best matches their child's learning style.  This flexibility allows 
those who may flounder in a traditional school environment to flourish. 
 
I want to skip to the provisions of S.B. 302 (R2).  The bill authorizes the parent 
of a child to enter into an agreement with the State Treasurer under which the 
child will be enrolled in a private school or receive instruction from a college or 
university, program of distance education, accredited tutoring facility, or parent.  
The parent will open an education savings account on behalf of the child, and 
a grant of 90 percent of the statewide average basic per pupil allotment will be 
deposited into the account as provided in the Nevada Plan.  The funding not 
allocated to a student's account will remain with their home school district. 
 

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/78th2015/Bill/1857/Overview/
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A child with special needs or whose household income is less than 185 percent 
of the federal poverty level will receive a grant of 100 percent of the basic 
support per pupil.  Each agreement is valid for one school year and may be 
terminated early, renewed, or reinstated in a future year at the parent's option.  
If the agreement is terminated early, the child may not receive instruction from 
a public school until the end of the period for which the last deposit into his or 
her education savings account was made.   
 
An agreement terminates automatically if a child no longer resides in Nevada.  
At that point, any money remaining in the account reverts to the State General 
Fund.   
 
For a child to be eligible for an education savings account, he or she must have 
been enrolled in a public school in Nevada for at least 100 consecutive school 
days immediately preceding the establishment of the account.  A parent may 
not establish an account for a child who will be homeschooled, who will receive 
instruction out of state, or who will remain enrolled full time in a public school.  
A parent may, however, establish an account for a child who receives a portion 
of instruction from a public school and a portion from other entities participating 
in this program. 
 
Grant funds may only be used for specific education expenses outlined in the 
bill.  These expenses include accredited tutoring, books, distance education, 
exam fees, school-related transportation, and tuition.  At the end of the school 
year, any money remaining in an education savings account may be carried on 
to the next year if the agreement is renewed.  If the agreement is not renewed 
or is terminated while the child is still required to attend public school, or when 
a child graduates from high school, any remaining funds revert to the 
State General Fund.   
 
To participate in the program, an entity must comply with the State Treasurer.  
As I mentioned before, eligible entities include a private school, a college or 
university, program of distance education, accredited tutor, tutoring facility, or 
the parent of a child.  The State Treasurer will annually publish a list of 
participating entities.  Students who participate must take national 
norm-referenced tests in math and English.  The results will be shared with the 
Department of Education, which will aggregate the results and report on the 
general progress of grant recipients. 
 
The State Treasurer may deduct up to 3 percent from each grant to cover the 
administrative costs, which include annual audits of random education savings 
accounts.  The State Treasurer must qualify one or more private financial 
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management firms to manage the education savings accounts and establish 
reasonable fees for those accounts.  
 
Finally, S.B. 302 (R2) provides that a child who participates in the program, but 
who does not enroll in a private school, is an "opt-in child" and requires the 
parent or guardian of such a child to notify the child's home school district.  
The bill also allows an "opt-in child" to participate in various extracurricular 
activities at a public school.  I will end my testimony there because there will be 
others who will touch on many of the other aspects of my testimony.   
 
Assemblyman Elliot T. Anderson:  
Do you still allow a participating entity to be a religious school? 
 
Senator Hammond: 
We only allow the savings account to be opened.  Therefore, as long as it is 
preapproved by the State Treasurer, who will have to look to see that they meet 
all of the criteria, they will establish the regulation, and if it meets that criteria, 
then the parent can choose that. 
 
Assemblyman Elliot T. Anderson:  
I still want clarity on one of the places that the person can take our 
appropriation.  Could they take that appropriation that was given to the financial 
firm and could they spend that at a religious school? 
 
Senator Hammond: 
Again, I am not going to determine where a parent is going to choose, but if 
parents have a savings account that is open, and we put the money in there 
through the Office of the State Treasurer, then they can choose any private 
school they wish as long as it is on that list.  I am not sure who is going to be 
on that list, but if there is a private school on there that is religious-based, they 
probably could. 
 
Assemblyman Elliot T. Anderson:  
Is it not in your bill that it can be used for a religious school? 
 
Senator Hammond: 
If they so choose.  There will be a long list of different choices a parent can 
make, so yes, they could go to a religious school. 
 
Assemblyman Elliot T. Anderson:  
They could use the appropriation for a religious school? 
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Senator Hammond: 
Again, there is going to be a long list of different things that the State Treasurer 
will approve and if the parent so chooses, then yes. 
 
Assemblyman Flores: 
I am going to focus on section 9.  I am trying to understand where the money 
can be used.  I understand we can use it for curriculum, textbooks, et cetera.  
Could you put it into practical terms on how that is going to work?  The reason 
I am asking is that I am concerned that perhaps I could create some curriculum, 
then put a price tag on it and sell it to my own child, or because I am 
purchasing a specific textbook, I get an incentive or kickback.  All of a sudden 
we are going to have this misuse of funds and we will have a hard time 
controlling it.  I am sure you have wrestled with all of these questions and 
found a way to control that, so if you would, walk me through that thought 
process and how we are going to ensure that these funds are taken care of.  
 
Senator Hammond: 
Yes, we contemplated a lot of this.  If you want to put curriculum together, 
good luck.  I have almost 16 years of experience teaching; it is not easy to put 
curriculum together.  You would have to go to the State Treasurer and explain 
that you have curriculum and they would have to approve it.  If you decided 
to buy curriculum and you submitted that invoice to the State Treasurer, the 
State Treasurer would review it and, again, there would be random audits.  This 
is going to be on a debit card.  You would not be able to go to a Walmart, for 
example, and buy a t-shirt with that card.  The card would not allow it.  There 
will be certain codes embedded in that card.  You could probably buy a 
calculator for education purposes.  Whoever will be the full-time employee at 
the State Treasurer's Office in charge of that account will get used to the 
invoices coming in again and again.  A red flag will go up when all of a sudden a 
different invoice comes in, especially one that says "curriculum produced and 
distributed for the Flores children." 
 
Assemblyman Flores: 
Where in the language does it state that the State Treasurer will have to 
approve the curriculum or textbooks? 
  
Senator Hammond: 
I will get back to you and show you where it appears in the bill. 
 
Assemblywoman Joiner: 
What is the amount of the funds deposited in the account?  I read that it was 
90 percent of whatever the cost per pupil is in that district or 100 percent in 
the case of certain high-needs students.  I am concerned about that overall.  
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In a time when we are all saying we need to fund education more, meaning our 
public schools, we would be taking funds away from those schools.  How was 
that calculation arrived at?  There are many fixed costs in districts such as 
buildings and teachers.  One child out of a 20-student classroom is only a small 
margin.  That classroom has to be there either way, so I am curious how that 
percentage was arrived at.  To me it seems extremely high compared to what 
the student actually costs in the classroom. 
 
Senator Hammond: 
We arrived at that number because it seemed to be the average tuition fee for 
some of the private schools that we saw.  For example, there is one school in 
Las Vegas that charges a little bit more than that for tuition.  With regard to 
taking money out of the classroom, you have to remember that for every child 
who does leave and takes some of the money with them, they are leaving 
10 percent behind.  Right now, we have an overcrowding issue in some of the 
schools.  The desk that was not available before, if a child does leave 
the school, is now available.  Not only are we leaving 10 percent of the 
State Distributive School Account (DSA)—that is not the local taxes that go into 
the local districts—all of that categorical funding stays with the district as well. 
 
Assemblywoman Joiner: 
I am still concerned that these are public funds that we are talking about.  It is 
DSA money that is leaving these public schools.  To follow up on my 
colleague's question about religious schools, I am also extremely concerned 
about the money going to any private school.  They do not have accountability 
as far as the testing requirements or who the teachers are; they can 
discriminate against their students based on "fit" criteria.  There are all kinds of 
things that religious and all private schools do not have to do.  Yet we are 
saying we will give them our public money.  Why should I as a taxpayer think 
that is a good idea?  Otherwise, we are all saying we should support public 
education.  This is counter to what our purpose has been this session.  
Persuade me that this is a good idea. 
 
Senator Hammond: 
If there is one thing I have learned in education, it is that one-size-fits-all does 
not work.  Even if you have a five-star school, you may have a student who is 
struggling because their particular needs are not being met.  What we are doing 
is allowing parents to determine if their child does not fit in one school to find 
another school that they do fit into.  If you have a special-needs child and there 
is a better school to accommodate their particular need, and then after school 
hours you get an accredited tutor to help out at a lower cost than what it costs 
the districts per pupil, then that is good for education and general public policy.  
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When we are talking about special needs students we are talking about the 
gamut of income levels.  That is why I believe school choice is important. 
 
Assemblywoman Swank: 
I feel that we have already done this.  There was another voucher program that 
went through earlier in this session [Assembly Bill 165, Chapter 22] called the 
Nevada Educational Choice Scholarship Program, or Opportunity Scholarships.  
It would be 300 percent of poverty, which would be basically a family of four 
making $72,000 per year that could get this need-based scholarship.  If we 
already have this scholarship program, we are already taking care of these 
children. 
 
Senator Hammond: 
Now we have two programs that are aimed at raising the expectations for those 
who live in areas where the schools have not met their needs.  You have 
to remember that those who live in poverty cannot just look for another 
house in another area to go to a better school.  We are looking at an 
Opportunity Scholarship to help those who are the most needy, then couple that 
with this particular education savings account (ESA) and get into whatever 
school they want to.  If you are talking about getting into one of the most 
expensive schools in the Las Vegas Valley, like The Meadows School, that 
school was previously out of reach for them and now they have an opportunity 
to get there.  Many of the private schools see the opportunity to help out more 
students because they will have more scholarship monies available.  We have 
put a particular section in this bill that will even allow them to spend some of 
the money on transportation so that will not be a hindrance either.  They will be 
able to get to that school, possibly to a school closer to where the parent is 
working so when the parent is going to work they now have a school that fits 
their child's needs and it is easily accessible. So the Opportunity Scholarship 
works hand in hand with this bill.  
 
Assemblywoman Swank: 
For clarification, a child could get an Opportunity Scholarship and also qualify 
for this program, correct? 
 
Senator Hammond: 
The Opportunity Scholarship is based on qualifications.  They would have to 
make sure they qualified for it.  We are talking about the neediest of the needy.  
Yes, they could get both. 
 
Assemblywoman Swank: 
We have already done Victory schools.  As Assemblywoman Joiner said, if we 
have a program that is going to be taking public funds, investing it in these 
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Victory schools for students who are low-income, why would we want to take 
taxpayer money out of the public school that we as legislators have oversight 
on, and put it into private hands?  I am very nervous about that.  We have some 
great programs that are coming through this session and there seems to be a lot 
of duplication across the various programs with this particular program. 
 
Senator Hammond: 
Things that are new tend to scare us a little.  This is not the first state that has 
contemplated this.  Arizona and Florida have already been doing this for a while.  
Tennessee has just passed an ESA.  It is important to understand that this 
student who has lived in poverty has an opportunity now to break that 
generational poverty cycle.  I voted for the Victory schools because I see the 
need for them.  Again, even though that student may be zoned for a 
Victory school, maybe that Victory school does not meet his needs.  Now we 
get to put that in the hands of parents who can "fit" a program that surrounds 
their child and give him what he needs. 
 
Assemblywoman Swank: 
I am a social scientist and have studied social change for 20 years.  
I understand change.  It is not necessarily that we are afraid of change; we just 
want to ensure public dollars. 
 
Senator Hammond: 
I meant that people in general do not embrace change.  I think we are creatures 
of habit for a reason.  We are comforted by things we know.  I appreciate your 
education and background. 
 
Assemblyman Gardner: 
Could you tell us about Arizona?  I was doing some research, and according to 
the most recent findings done by the Cato Institute in 2013, a survey was done 
of the parents who were using this system.  One hundred percent of the parents 
participating in the program are satisfied.  I would love to see a poll like that of 
any school system in our state.  Can you tell us of some of the benefits 
happening in Arizona?  
  
Also, there are three components to funding in our state: DSA, the local, and 
the federal.  As far as I know this will only take the DSA so it will actually be 
leaving most of the money in the public school districts because local is always 
larger than DSA. 
 
Sentor Hammond: 
I will have people with more expertise from Arizona come up to explain their 
results.  I have seen Arizona's survey and you are correct that 100 percent liked 
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what they were given.  To the second part of your question, yes, this is only 
going to be the DSA money.  We are not taking local or federal funds. 
 
Assemblyman Edwards: 
We have seen where the cookie-cutter approach does not work, especially 
when you have the diverse demographics that we do in Nevada.  Therefore, 
I applaud the Governor's approach of targeting different audiences and groups 
of students in order to meet and focus on their needs rather than some big DSA 
public school—to take the students and put them into places where they will fit 
in well, do well, and succeed.  We talk about taking the money out of the public 
sector and putting it into the private sector and how that would hurt the public 
sector, yet, Victory schools are still public schools.  Charter schools are still 
going to be public schools.  We are not really taking money out of the public 
sector; we are simply reallocating into different management systems.  In this 
case, if we are in fact taking money from the public sector into the private 
sector, it is important to remember what Superintendent of Public Instruction 
Dale Erquiaga talked about, which was that there are over 200 private-sector 
schools that are not religious-affiliated or parochial schools.  I would encourage 
them because they are doing a lot better than many of the public schools.  Even 
though they are great, there are also approximately another 150 private-sector 
schools that are secular in nature that we can still have these students attend.   
 
It seems the ESA would afford them the opportunity to go to a place where 
they would fit in well and could succeed.  That needs to be the focus of this 
entire bill and discussion.  This is one more way the Governor and the 
Legislature are trying to help the students get out of a situation where they are 
failing and put them into a situation where they are going to succeed. 
 
Senator Hammond: 
Throughout this session, we have talked about Victory schools and 
Zoom schools, and I have been very supportive for years.  If someone asked me 
how we should be looking at public schools, I would say the money should be 
put where it can best be spent.  For example, we have discussed wraparound 
services at Victory schools, which is putting more money in those areas than in 
other schools.  I think it is necessary to bust up that generational poverty we 
were talking about and put the services where we are.  This is just another way 
of putting money and resources to their best use. 
 
Assemblyman Edwards: 
It seems to be the perfect way to put the money with the child rather than with 
an institution. 
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Assemblyman Flores: 
Can you give me a hypothetical with section 7, subsection 4, in what that looks 
like?  In the scenario where a student decided to pursue the options available in 
this bill and go to a private entity, we deposit the funds, then a month into it 
the student realizes that the school is not the right school for him or her for 
whatever reason.  The student now wants to go back to the public school he or 
she previously attended.  I read that if the agreement is terminated early, the 
child may not receive instruction from a public school in this state until the end 
of the period for which the last deposit was made into the ESA pursuant to 
section 8 of this act.  Could you decipher what that means and how it would 
play out for the student? 
 
Senator Hammond: 
What we have contemplated here is that we did not want to put the burden on 
public schools.  When allocations are made, we are going to disperse money 
quarterly so we can alleviate some of the concerns.  What we are saying is that 
even if you do not like it for a month, you need to stay there.  You cannot go 
back to your zip code-registered school until such time as that quarter is over so 
that we can put the money back into the school. 
 
Assemblyman Flores: 
What is a quarter?  What is the length of time? 
 
Senator Hammond: 
Quarterly.  We are talking a month here, so quarterly would be three months. 
 
Assemblyman Flores: 
Building on the previous hypothetical example, a student at a public entity 
decides to go to the private entity and a month into it realizes he or she does 
not like it.  Let us say the student chose a religious school and they teach 
certain things, and maybe the student is a member of the lesbian, gay, bisexual, 
transgender (LGBT) community and realizes that he or she made a mistake, and 
it is not the right fit because of what is being taught.  In that scenario, that 
student is obligated to remain there for two months.  Is that correct? 
   
Senator Hammond: 
This is a good hypothetical.  There are other services.  Let us say the student 
does not want to go to that institution anymore.  The student could ask the 
institution if they offer classes online instead.  The student could not go back to 
his or her public school.  We cannot burden the public schools by putting 
another person in there without giving them the funds for it. 
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Assemblyman Flores: 
I am concerned about that because private schools have such flexibility in their 
curriculum and a lot of parents do not necessarily understand what that means 
to the student.  Many times, especially within our gay communities, the parents 
do not even know the student is gay.  The parents are the ones who are going 
to decide that the student should be at that private school because they heard it 
was the best—then it is a nightmare for the student.  I am concerned that we 
will have scenarios where students will be in limbo for several months even 
though I understand that is a very small segment of students we are capturing. 
 
Assemblywoman Diaz:  
I keep hearing how wonderful everything is when I hear about private schools 
and charter schools and how much better they are than our public schools.  
What has failed to be highlighted is that oftentimes parents who have children 
with special needs in these schools may have to try the public school route 
because the private and charter schools are not meeting the needs of their 
children.  I know several colleagues who had their special-needs children 
enrolled in a private school for a while, and they felt their children's needs were 
not being met.   
 
I want to put that on the record to counter a lot of arguments where there is 
this Pollyanna kind of mentality that this is a good solution for all students.  
You  said it in your statement; it is not.  I want to make sure everyone 
understands.  From my perspective of being a child of a low-income family, it 
gives me concerns to think that sending a child to private school is the best 
option for that child, because I can tell you that in terms of social interactions, if 
that child does not have the latest iPhone because he is poor, he is going to be 
made to feel inadequate.  If he does not have the best tennis shoes that cost 
$200 because his parents can only afford Payless shoes, he is going to feel all 
of those factors as part of a school climate.  I do not want that to be lost in this 
conversation where we are saying poor children will be more advantaged by 
these opportunities.  I think we have to look at the entire picture.   
 
My question comes back to this: what happens when a child is not a good fit in 
one of these schools and a parent cannot homeschool or take him somewhere 
else and they decide that a public school is a much better fit?  What happens to 
that money that was supposed to follow the child?  What happens when that 
child reenrolls in the public school system? 
 
Senator Hammond: 
I have been a schoolteacher for 15 years in a public school.  You put a student 
in front of me, and I am going to do my best to teach and educate that child.  
I do not live under those illusions that the private schools are the best.  There 
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could be a great private school that is not the best.  You have to leave it up to 
the parents.  The parents know their children, and the children have a choice; 
they know the best education.  For years we have been taught that we need to 
teach to the student.  If a student learns by listening to a teacher in the front of 
the classroom, or hands on, or whatever style of learning, schools are going to 
adapt and find a way to teach that student.  To your other question, I believe 
we have contemplated that if it is not working out for the student, that is why 
we are doing it quarterly.  The money follows the student when the student 
goes back into the public school. 
 
Assemblywoman Diaz:  
If that child is mid-quarter and is reenrolled back into public school, then the 
school district is short that money for that half of a quarter? 
 
Senator Hammond: 
It depends on when the money comes back in.  There will be others to testify 
how the money works out.  We will get the money back in; that is why we 
decided to do it quarterly.  If the student does decide to go back to public 
school, it will not hurt the school that much.   
 
Assemblywoman Diaz:  
I see the states that you referenced already have a similar mechanism in place 
and they do not open the gates to all children.  They are very specific as to who 
can apply for these funds.  For example, in Florida, it is students with certain 
disabilities and with individualized education programs (IEP).  In Georgia it is the 
same thing.  Arizona limits it to students with disabilities; students attending 
public schools that are failing, which has been addressed with Achievement 
schools; children of an active-duty service member; and students living in 
a foster care home.  In looking at the three states that have something similar, 
they do not say "all Nevada students" can obtain this.  It limits the focus of the 
money and who can access it.  If we are saying those are so wonderful, why 
are we not falling in line with what they are doing in those states? 
 
Senator Hammond: 
There will be people here who have had experience in those other two states.  
All I can say is those two states have been the forerunners on this.  They have 
tested the waters to see how it would work.  Many states would like to see 
something like we are contemplating here.  We are contemplating allowing 
everybody to participate in this.  We have learned from their mistakes.  There 
have been some problems in Arizona.  They have tightened up the regulations 
and tightened up their program.  We have learned from that.  I am excited about 
this.  I know that not a lot of people are.  It can be scary.  I know that.  
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Assemblywoman Diaz:  
Why is the State Treasurer the best fit to run this program?  I can see the fiscal 
component, but as an educational authority, I do not think the State Treasurer 
should be compiling the list of providers.  I can see them following money, but 
I do not see them running this whole thing.   
 
Senator Hammond: 
One of the biggest problems they ran into in Arizona was the fraud component.  
That is why we are running it through the State Treasurer.  They will find 
someone who can work on this full time in their department and someone who 
will be in communication and get the educational information they need.  They 
will also be consulting with the Department of Education when need be. 
 
Assemblyman Edwards: 
If the student goes into another school, the public school that he or she left is 
under the "hold harmless," so the school does not really lose the funding.  
If a student goes to another school, then leaves that school, the school they 
return to already has the funding for them.  There is really no damage 
or diminishment of funding within the public school system because of 
"hold harmless." 
 
Senator Hammond: 
That is not completely true because we are taking some of the money out 
of the public school.  The school will get 90 percent of the DSA, then 
whatever it is broken down quarterly.  That will be taken away.  The school still 
gets the funding that goes along with it, the capital and the local taxes, as 
Assemblyman Gardner mentioned.   
 
Assemblyman Edwards: 
When a student leaves, they do not depart with all of the money that the school 
would normally have had and the school is not considered to be damaged or 
underfunded unless at least 5 percent of that school actually leaves.  Then 
"hold harmless" would come into play.  If there is a diminishment of the 
money  to a particular school, it is not really that much money.  If it were, 
"hold  harmless" would cover that school. 
 
Senator Hammond: 
I will agree with that. 
 
Assemblyman Edwards: 
There is no limitation as to the number of students who can actually take 
advantage of this opportunity, correct?   
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Senator Hammond: 
Correct. 
 
Assemblyman Edwards: 
We also know there will be some limitation as far as the capacity of the other 
schools to actually absorb those students.  We are not looking at taking 
453 students from the public schools and suddenly putting them into 
private schools because there are not that many private schools available. 
 
Senator Hammond: 
This is correct.  We are not talking about 10,000 or 20,000 students.  There is 
no way we could have that many leave the school and go to a private school.  
The private schools do not have the capacity. 
 
Assemblyman Edwards: 
For those who are so concerned that there will be such a huge diminishment of 
money going into the public schools, we are really talking about, maybe, 
1 to 3 percent of the student population at maximum capacity.  Would that be 
about right?  With 97 percent of their funding left, the public schools should be 
able to function just fine. 
 
Senator Hammond: 
I cannot comment on that as I am not an expert.  Whether or not they are fine, 
we will hear from them later. 
 
Assemblyman Elliot T. Anderson:  
I want to talk about the definition of participating entities in section 11.  
As I read it, it would include private schools, religious schools, distance 
education, and tutors.  It does not specify whether it is for profit or nonprofit.  
Finally, it talks about parents.  That makes me think of homeschooling.  
Section 7, subsection 10 says you cannot be a homeschooled student.  It does 
say if you are partially attending a public school, you can then have the 
participating entity kick in.  It looks like the intent is to allow homeschooling for 
that parent because the parent is listed as a participating entity, although 
subsection 10 appears to make an exception.  Is that what you are trying to do, 
give it to a parent to homeschool if they are even partially distance education? 
 
Senator Hammond: 
We are not allowing homeschooling here because, first of all, those who 
homeschool do not want the money.  They want to be separate from this.  
What we are allowing are those parents who might want to have their child at 
home in a setting where they are learning online or with some other services.  
It is not anticipated to be a homeschooled child. 
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Assemblyman Elliot T. Anderson:  
The language as it is written in section 7, subsection 10 says "A parent may 
establish an education savings account for a child who receives a portion of his 
or her instruction from a public school and a portion of his or her instruction 
from a participating entity."  A parent is defined as a participating entity.  
I worry about putting public dollars in the parents' hands.  Another section talks 
about what the money can be used for.  In section 9 you can use it for 
curriculum.  It does not state whether that curriculum is research-based or not.  
A person could say, Here is my curriculum; I wrote it up.  You could purchase 
that curriculum and the parent could purchase it.  You could say you are going 
on a field trip; that could be part of education.  I am wondering about the 
accountability.  That could be a bit reckless if that is what the bill would allow.  
I worry about turning parents into experts on purchasing curriculum.  That 
seems to be a big loophole on how this money could be used.  If I am a parent, 
I can send my child to distance education at a public school for a portion of 
time.  The bill is written broadly enough to allow that. 
 
Senator Hammond: 
I have had several talks with Legal about this.  What we are contemplating here 
is not giving money to the parent.  In order to use the money, they would have 
to go through a program that was approved.  Parents cannot just say they want 
to go to Europe.  They cannot put the components together of why their child is 
going to learn from going to the best museums in Prague.  They would have to 
go through the State Treasurer to do that.  These are some of the mistakes 
Arizona went through and we have learned from.  
 
Assemblyman Elliot T. Anderson:  
I think you need to take the parent out of the definition of a participating entity 
then because the plain reading does not coincide with your intent.  The reality is 
that lawyers read things differently.  If the plain reading is not clear, that 
creates a mess.  In this case, the plain reading is clear if it says the parent is 
a participating entity.  I am really worried about a major loophole in this bill that 
could allow parents latitude we did not intend. 
 
Senator Hammond: 
Duly noted.  For the record I will state that we have looked at this and have 
edited it through a lot of legal minds, and the conclusion was that parents 
would not be able to use it and would not have that loophole.  Again, it would 
go on a debit card and it would have codes on the card that would allow them 
to purchase those items, and those would have to be activated by the 
State Treasurer. 
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Assemblyman Munford:  
There are so many text messages and emails in opposition to this bill.  In my 
district they feel that this is something that reminds them of the old days.  It is 
almost like offering them an opportunity that it is best for them to go to what is 
almost an integrated school because you are going to a private school with 
wealthy children and you will learn better.  It was a practice and a thought that 
when they were busing, they were integrating black students with white 
students and the black students would learn better.  It is almost the same thing 
with a private school and wealthy children, that the black student will perform 
better.  Many of my constituents feel this is a throwback to the days of busing 
and taking the children out of their community again.  There is strong tradition 
and cultural ties to my community that they do not want broken.  Many of my 
constituents have told me that they are totally against this bill.  They do not 
want to have anything to do with it. 
 
Senator Hammond: 
I appreciate what you are saying.  I talked to a school before I came up for 
session and they have been instrumental in helping me out.  Mountain View 
Christian School on Bonanza Road tells me that there is space in their school 
and there are so many people in their area that they actually cater to the needs 
of their community. 
 
Assemblyman Munford: 
Mountain View is not on Bonanza.  It is not in my district. 
 
Senator Hammond: 
My point is that there are many minority students in that area who would like to 
go to that school and are on the cusp of affording it, and this would help them 
get into that school.  There is a connection to that school.  Once they are there, 
it becomes a community school to them.  I have had others come to me saying 
they would like to start private schools in those areas as well that would cater 
to the needs of those who are underserved at this time. 
 
Assemblyman Munford:  
This is something we have to look at down the road.  I will get more feedback 
from my constituents and see what they say.  My district is 90 percent 
students of color, of a lower socioeconomic level, and of single parents.  They 
do not seem to want to be a part of or involved in this.  They feel the Victory 
and Zoom schools may have an impact and alleviate some of the problems that 
exist in the community in terms of performance and enhancing education.   
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Senator Hammond: 
I am not going to belabor this.  I understand where you are coming from and 
appreciate your comments because they are genuine.  This past summer I met 
a representative from the Tulsa area in the Oklahoma Legislature—a gentleman 
of color who represented a tremendous number of people of color in his area.  
He understands and loves school choice.   
I see the need for school choice not only for the middle class but especially for 
the lower socioeconomic groups, and I am excited about this as an agent of 
change for that group.  Time will tell. 
 
Assemblywoman Swank: 
I want to go back to the issue of parents choosing where to send their children.  
My dad had an eighth-grade education.  My mom went to high school, and that 
was the end of her education.  They would have no idea how to choose 
a school for me.  While I am just an anecdote, that does represent a large 
demographic.  I did not see in the bill that there would be someone who was 
going to help the parents choose.  Is there a position that will be created that 
would provide support for these parents to help them with the selection process 
to know which curriculum is going to be best for their children?  Or, are they 
going to be left to their own devices to make a guess? 
 
Senator Hammond: 
The bill does not contemplate that.  It does not mean we cannot talk about how 
to create the resources for those who do not know what is available to them 
later on.  We could perhaps add that in at a later time. 
 
I did find out that the Mountain View Christian School I spoke about earlier is 
located on East Bonanza Road.  I was partially right.  That school does a lot of 
community outreach.  
 
Assemblywoman Joiner: 
These conversations are difficult for me because I did attend private school from 
kindergarten through third grade.  It was a religious school.  I have great 
memories of my education there.  I do not mean to disparage private schools 
when we have these conversations.  There are some really good private 
schools.  There are some not so good private schools, and my question relates 
to accountability again.  We spend a lot of time demanding accountability of our 
public schools.  The teachers, the principals, and the schools have to prove 
success.  If this program were to pass and we have public money going to 
private schools, my question is, how do we know what our return on 
investment is?  Where is the accountability?  How do we know these students 
are learning?  That is a big concern of mine.  When I went to private school, it 
was a choice of my family.  We would have never expected the entire 
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community or the state to help pay for that.  It is a very valid choice for many 
families, but to take money out of the public school system and have no 
accountability is a huge concern for me. 
 
Senator Hammond: 
One accountability measure we did put in the bill is that at the end of every year 
students would have to take a norm-referenced test.  The statistics would be 
compiled and delivered in aggregate form to the Department of Education, 
which would then go over the data.  That is one aspect where we are making 
sure there is accountability. 
 
Assemblyman Gardner: 
I really like the fact that the bill is so broad.  We do not just care about certain 
children; I think all children matter.  We all agree on that.  I am somewhat 
puzzled by the statements worrying about children leaving.  If the schools are 
already great, no students would leave.  It is a choice to have that option.  This 
bill is not forcing one person to leave the school.  It is just giving them the 
option to leave if they so desire.  
 
Senator Hammond: 
To Assemblywoman Joiner, if you want to see more about accountability, it is 
in section 12.  As you go through it and have questions, you can certainly talk 
to me offline about it.  I appreciate the statement from Assemblyman Gardner 
as well. 
 
Tom Greene, Regional Advocacy Director, Western Region, Excellence in 

Education National: 
We have worked with several states on similar types of education, including 
Arizona and Florida.  The ultimate goal is to get it to the point of this bill.  This 
bill would be one of the strongest school choice bills in the country.  There has 
been a lot of worry about trusting parents, but I think you can trust your 
constituents to make the best decisions for their children.  We are seeing story 
after story where parents are using these funds to meet the unique learning 
needs of their children.  There are many stories in Arizona where students have 
needed special therapies to help them learn.  They needed special assistance 
and they were able to afford that.  They are able to tailor their education to 
better meet their needs.  It has been a great success. 
 
As a body, as you wrestle with approving historic revenue, it would be great to 
approve a historic school choice program that would be a beacon for the rest of 
the country.  You have taken lessons learned from Arizona and Florida and have 
put those provisions into this bill to safeguard against abuses.  It is a strong 
piece of legislation. 
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Again, the ultimate accountability lies with the parent.  This is only one piece of 
the puzzle and you all should be commended for the number of bills that you 
have looked at and approved.   
 
Victor M. Salcido, Director of Policy and Strategy, Argentum Partners: 
We represent the Friedman Foundation for Educational Choice which is 
a nonprofit organization dedicated to realizing the vision of Nobel Prize-winning 
economist Milton Friedman and his wife, the economist Rose Friedman, for 
school choice for all children. 
 
We have talked about the programs in Arizona and Florida, and it is worth 
noting that along with Tennessee and Mississippi, these are states that have 
already implemented similar programs.  Also, during the course of this session, 
there have been 15 other states that we have identified that have education 
savings account bills working through their own legislative process.  
The benefits of ESAs are numerous.  Two examples worth highlighting are the 
reduction of overcrowding and the ability to mold a child's education to fit his or 
her particular needs. 
 
In Nevada, we are constantly hearing of school overcrowding, which is an all 
too real problem, particularly in the Clark County School District (CCSD).  
We have heard schools have had to bring in trailers to serve as makeshift 
classrooms.  We have heard of classrooms not having enough desks.  Just 
yesterday in this Committee, we heard about how teachers have to pay for 
basic school supplies out of their own pocket.  There is not one solution for all 
of these problems, but we believe that overcrowding is an enormous part of it.  
Education savings accounts represent an option for so many who, simply put, 
do not have that option right now.  Giving parents these options has the 
potential to ease overcrowding in many of our schools.  Another benefit of 
having ESAs is that they allow parents to craft the child's education on an 
individual basis as opposed to a one-size-fits-all approach.  
 
Finally, I want to comment on some of the questions that Senator Hammond 
left for his supporters.  In regard to the section of the State Treasurer approval 
from Assemblyman Flores, it can be found in section 11, subsections 1 and, 
particularly, subsection 2.  Assemblyman Gardner, you referenced a study from 
Arizona of the satisfaction the parents have had in that program.  I am 
unfamiliar with the Cato Institute, but I know the Friedman Foundation for 
Educational Choice has a study and I would be happy to give it to you as well 
as all of the members of this Committee.  As you mentioned, there is 
overwhelmingly 98 to 100 percent satisfaction.  The people who are using this 
view it as a lifeline.  The key we would want to stress is that we are not forcing 



Assembly Committee on Education 
May 28, 2015 
Page 27 
 
this upon anyone.  I wholeheartedly believe that if some public schools are 
a better choice for people, they are allowed to stay there.  
 
Andy Abboud, Senior Vice President, Government Relations and Community 

Development, Las Vegas Sands Corporation: 
We are pleased to support Senate Bill 302 (2nd Reprint).  We are also proud 
supporters of our public education system in the Clark County School District 
and across Nevada.  We believe the ESAs could become a game changer for the 
state of Nevada.  As a company, the Sands is dedicated to helping our 
employees and their children learn, advance, and share new ideas that drive 
innovation.  We believe that S.B. 302 (R2) will provide Nevada students with 
the opportunity to earn a high-quality education at the institution of their choice.  
We also want to ensure that the children of our team members have 
opportunities to pursue their education and have choices in that education.  
Simply put, S.B. 302 (R2) can provide a choice and a chance for 
Nevada students.  Las Vegas Sands has a track record of supporting educational 
opportunity for our team members and their employees and their families, and 
we believe S.B. 302 (R2) will provide educational opportunity for Nevadans.  
We are proud to strongly support this bill. 
 
Cindy Jensen, Principal, Journey Education, Las Vegas, Nevada: 
I am in support of Senate Bill 302 (2nd Reprint).  It is a great opportunity for 
families in Nevada, especially when they are seeking other options.  Working at 
a private school myself, we find many parents who come to our school looking 
for different options for their children either because they are not being 
challenged, or they are falling behind, or for bullying reasons.  I cannot tell you 
how many times we have had parents who are so excited about the 
opportunities that private education could offer their students, only to find out 
the tuition is above their means.  At Journey Education, we are excited about 
the opportunity this will provide parents. 
 
Jennifer Hammond, Private Citizen, Henderson, Nevada: 
I am the mother of four children.  I am not related to Senator Hammond, who 
brought this bill forward.  I am here today to ask support for S.B. 302 (R2).  
 
I have a son, Tanner, who struggled in school.  As a parent, I recognized that 
something was definitely wrong with the difficulty my son was having in 
learning to read.  When I spoke with his teachers and school administrators 
I was told that, yes, he struggled, but that he was "doing all right."  I was told 
that my son was not that bad.  I disagreed with what I was being told because 
I could not understand why a third grader could not read.  When I was told that 
he was not that bad, I questioned it and asked that he be tested for a learning 
disability.  My son continued to struggle with school and especially in reading 
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and writing.  He continued to feel stupid and inadequate and frustrated that it 
took him four times as long to learn the same thing his classmates did.  When 
I received the test scores back from the school administration, I was told that 
Tanner did not qualify for a learning disability.  He did not qualify because his 
IQ test showed that his IQ was low and he was "doing the best he could."  
I was told my son was not college material and that I should just accept his 
limitations. 
 
I did not accept their findings because I knew my son better than that.  I took 
my son to an independent learning disability testing center out of state.  They 
tested my son for dyslexia and they tested his IQ.  They told me that on a scale 
of 1 to 10 of the dyslexia scale, my son tested at about 14.  They also 
assessed that his IQ was extremely high.  An IQ test is supposed to be 
objective and not change on that kind of scale.  The public school system failed 
my son.  What would have happened to my child if I had not spent literally over 
$1,000 to test my son independently?  What would have happened is, he would 
have been pushed through the system that had very little expectations for him 
because someone in the school district told him that he was just fine.   
 
Since that time he has gone through elementary school, junior high, and high 
school, and part of high school was with a 504 Plan.  I had to fight for every 
accommodation every year for my son.  Believe me, there was not one day that 
he went to school that he actually received the accommodations that he was 
entitled to.  We paid for private tutors who specialized in dyslexia and he made 
it through.  I read my son's textbooks to him every night.  When he earned his 
diploma last year, I felt like I graduated as well.  Can you imagine how many 
children have been failed by the system who do not have parent advocates 
fighting for them to get through school?  We are not a wealthy family.  This 
public education was extremely costly to our family emotionally and emotionally 
costly to my son. 
 
Public school districts do not know what are the best needs for children.  
Parents do.  Even parents who do not have a college education can figure out 
what school and what education path is best for their children.  Not legislators, 
not  the teachers unions or the school administrators, but the kids are the ones 
who need this.   
 
Education savings accounts will help all of the Tanners out there with learning 
disabilities.  This bill is about choice.  Senate Bill 302 (2nd Reprint) will give 
options to children who suffer from bullying.  We are failing these children.  
I believe ESAs will also help other kids who will not need them because 
S.B. 302 (R2) gives a portion of the per pupil funding back to the General Fund 
without the additional cost of educating the child. 
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Pat Skorkowsky, Superintendent, Clark County School District, stated in the 
State of the District speech this year that my school district could build 26 new 
schools right now and still not be able to fix its overcrowding problem.  
Let private schools build to accommodate overcrowding.  Public schools will 
literally save millions if this bill passes because they do not have to use those 
funds to build new schools.   
 
I listened to some of the debate last night on the Senate floor against this bill, 
and I was appalled that it mentioned that anyone in favor of this bill wants to 
abolish public schools.  I have two daughters in the public education system 
now and they are fine, doing well, and thriving in the public education system 
today.  I can literally say that I would not pull them out of the public school that 
they are currently attending for a million dollars.  They love the public school 
they attend.  Another argument made against this bill was that it will not reach 
the children who are most deserving.  I would like to know, what child does not 
deserve this bill? 
 
Sheila Salehian, Private Citizen, Las Vegas, Nevada: 
I want to say thank you to Senator Hammond for authoring this bill.  I would 
like to reiterate that overall this bill provides a great option for Nevada families.  
The opportunity to pay for private education and being reimbursed for a portion 
of the tuition through this program is a very progressive option for parents like 
myself who value education.  I have struggled with the K-12 public education 
system in this state.   
 
I do have one major concern with the language in the bill.  It is the language 
that requires a student to have attended a public school for the past 100 days.  
I am a single mother raising two children in the CCSD and have struggled for 
years to get my children in the best public schools.  I have had them in my zone 
school, I have had them ride the bus for hours to attend magnet schools, I even 
physically moved to Summerlin.  I finally made the decision to put my youngest 
daughter in a private school last year.  I did qualify for some financial aid 
to make it more affordable.  However, my daughter was struggling with the 
large class sizes.  There are 119 children in her band class.  The sheer size of 
middle school was over 2,000 students.  It was very difficult for her.  
Therefore, for the first time in 15 years I have put her into a private school.  
The way the bill is currently written, families like mine would not qualify for this 
program.  I am asking the Committee to consider lowering the reimbursement 
rate to perhaps 75 percent instead of 90 percent to allow all families who are 
making the sacrifice to put their child in private schools to be able to take 
advantage of this school choice option. 
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My child was accepted into The Meadows School for next year.  She received 
a Founders 50/50 scholarship program.  It is a merit scholarship, which means 
that I will be paying about $12,000 per year for her education.  This bill would 
assist me greatly.  I would like to say thank you for the opportunity to support 
the bill and for the progressive thinking.   
 
[Vice Chair Stewart assumed the Chair.] 
 
Victor Joecks, Executive Vice President, Nevada Policy Research Institute: 
We strongly support Senate Bill 302 (2nd Reprint) because it would allow all of 
the Nevada parents additional options to provide the best education for their 
children.  I submitted for the Nevada Electronic Legislative Information System 
(NELIS) a study by the Friedman Foundation for Educational Choice that 
examined studies of school choice programs around the country (Exhibit G).  
Here is what it found.  There have been 12 random-assignment empirical 
studies examining the impact on school choice program participants.  Eleven 
found improved outcomes; one found no difference.  There have also been 
23 empirical studies that have looked at the academic impact of school choice 
on students that remain in the public schools.  Twenty-two of those studies 
found school choice improved outcomes in the public schools, and one found no 
difference. 
 
I would like to discuss the fiscal impacts of this bill.  The average student will 
receive 90 percent of the DSA funding, which is about $5,000.  What 
ESA students will not receive is local-only funding—most significantly two-thirds 
of the 75 percent property tax, general operating, federal funding, or any capital 
funding for property tax for that.  With Nevada's per pupil spending in 2011 at 
$8,700, that means that every student choosing to use an ESA will give school 
districts around $3,500 extra per pupil.  If 5,000 students across the state use 
the ESA, school districts will have an extra $17.5 million to spend on current 
students.  There would be a reduction in total funding, but the money per pupil 
would be greater under this program.  This is a win-win and we urge your 
support. 
 
Denise Lasher, representing American Federation for Children: 
I am here to testify on behalf of the American Federation for Children, the 
nation's leading school choice advocacy organization.  I have worked with 
various school choice programs for more than 12 years in Florida and around 
the country.   
 
Educational savings accounts provide parents with the customization that their 
children need to obtain the educational experience that best meets their needs.  
I am not going to repeat many of the benefits that have been relayed to you 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/78th2015/Exhibits/Assembly/ED/AED1392G.pdf
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today about school choice.  Instead I want to talk about the economics of 
S.B. 302 (R2).  Based on studies and research information, the CCSD has over 
30,000 elementary school students in portable classrooms today.  More than 
24 schools are now running year-round schedules.   
 
A study by the U.S. Department of Education detailing future student enrollment 
across the country pegged Nevada and Arizona with the nation's highest growth 
rate in K-12 enrollment through 2020.  Nevada's projected growth is 22 percent 
in new students between now and 2020.  The CCSD had 80,000 new students 
alone.   
 
Another study released in February 2015, by the Guinn Center for Policy 
Priorities, estimated that $7.3 billion would be needed in the Clark County 
School District alone for the unfunded costs and need for repairs, renovation, 
and construction.  For the Washoe County School District, the figure was 
$784 million.  The cost in rural districts to replace 50-year-old classrooms is 
$450 million.  That is $8 billion in need.  This program will enable these districts 
to deal with the overcrowding that they have, and no costs will be incurred to 
construct new space for new students that take advantage of this program.  
Remember that 20 percent enrollment growth I mentioned?  That is 
90,000 more students, and it will take at least $2.2 billion in additional school 
construction to accommodate those new students.  That is a total of $10 billion 
in school construction needs.  This ESA program is going to be one of the tools 
that you need to implement to help address those debt crises.   
 
Janine Hansen, State President, Nevada Families for Freedom: 
We support Senate Bill 302 (2nd Reprint) and we support school choice.  This 
bill is for the children, not the education monolith.  Taxpayers and parents want 
something that works.  They want value for their tax dollars in academic 
achievement.  In choice programs across the country, we have seen this 
happen. 
 
Washington, D.C., is a good example where they had choice programs for 
low-income students.  They were spending $28,000 per student in the district.  
With choice programs, they spent less than one-fourth of that amount, yet 
those in the choice programs saw a graduation rate of 82 percent while those in 
the district program had a low 56 percent graduation rate.  In Milwaukee, in the 
inner city, they had a voucher school choice program which made substantial 
gains in achievement.  They were spending half the money that the public 
schools were spending, yet the students were succeeding.  Florida had the 
same situation where their fourth graders increased their reading scores by 
two grade levels in the years since 1999, with a school choice program, while 
Nevada has only increased by half a grade level.  Do we really care about 
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academic achievement in the schools or do we just care about maintaining the 
education monolith?  Parents care about their children and have the ability to 
make the decision about what is best for them. 
 
I have had my own children in public, private, and homeschool.  It depended on 
the child and it depended on the year.  It depended on what they needed in their 
own individual lives.  My son went to community college at age 15.  That was 
best for him.  My daughter was in high school and loved being a cheerleader.  
That was best for her.  Each individual child is important and this program gives 
each parent and each child choices.  We believe in freedom in America.  
We need to have freedom of choice in education. 
 
[Chair Woodbury reassumed the Chair.] 
 
Elissa Wahl, Vice Chair, Nevada Homeschool Network, Carson City, Nevada: 
I heard Assemblyman Anderson's concerns.  They are concerns our organization 
has addressed and has worked with Senator Hammond through the process of 
writing this bill.  We do feel that his intent is clear, that this is not meant 
currently for homeschooled students.  We have our own set of statutes that 
these students would not fall under.  They would not fall under it by name 
either.  They would be opt-in students.  Homeschoolers for the most part do not 
want to be tied to state money.  We want the flexibility that our current 
statutes give us.  This would be a fourth category of students, if you will, called 
an opt-in student.  They might be learning in the home environment, but we do 
have charter schools that have students learning in the home environment.  
We  do have distance education students who are learning in the home 
environment.  This would be another type of student who could possibly be 
learning in the home environment.  While some people might say there are 
homeschoolers using this money, you and I would know better.  This would be 
an opt-in student under the intent of this legislation.   
 
If you pass this bill, we will be around to keep that clarity, as will 
Senator Hammond, because it is very clear that he wants to keep that 
separation as well.  I want to encourage you that this is about options.  I heard 
Assemblyman Munford's concerns regarding forced integration.  This is not 
about enforcing; this is about a choice.  No one is going to make a student 
leave a school and go to another school.  No one is going to force money on 
you.  It is a choice.  If your children are in an institution that is not working for 
them, they should have a choice.  To Assemblywoman Swank, who felt parents 
might not know how to find options, if your child is stuck in an institution with 
no options, and you are given money, you will find the options.  You will find 
someone to help you because you are the parent and your vested interest is 
your child. 
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Assemblyman Elliot T. Anderson:  
I just want to clarify the record.  It is a matter of semantics in what we are 
calling homeschool.  It is a legal definition.  I can define anything as anything 
that I want in the law.  The reality is that as long as a person is doing at least 
one distance education course with a public school of any kind, they are at least 
partially enrolled; they could do the rest of their instruction at home.  As long as 
the parent is still considered a participating entity, that opens the door to what 
I would consider homeschool, whether it is defined that way or not.  That 
needed to be clarified that this would allow this money to be used in a home 
environment by the parent.  That needs to be clear for everyone's edification. 
 
Janine Hansen: 
There was clarification on this point in the Senate hearing.  The homeschoolers 
were there and they want to be entirely separate.  I was a pioneer in the 
homeschool movement in Nevada and homeschooled two of my children, and 
eight of my grandchildren are being homeschooled.  They do not want to be 
part of this bill, they do not want the money.  Right now, some charter schools 
have some distance education that is taking place at home.  Students who 
participate in this have to go to school for the 100 days and they have to be 
approved by the State Treasurer.  The homeschool movement does not want to 
have oversight from the government.  They do not want money from the 
government.  They want to be free of government interference in 
homeschooling their own children.  This process is entirely separate.  
The distinction is very important.  
 
Chair Woodbury: 
Is there anyone else either here or in Las Vegas wishing to testify in support of 
Senate Bill 302 (2nd Reprint)?  [There was no one.]  Is there anyone in either 
place in opposition to S.B. 302 (R2)? 
 
Lindsay Anderson, Director, Government Affairs, Washoe County School 

District: 
As adopted from our board platform for the Washoe County School Board we 
are in opposition to Senate Bill 302 (2nd Reprint).  Currently in Washoe County 
School District (WCSD) about 5 percent of students are enrolled in private 
school.  We have heard back and forth that it is going to solve overcrowding 
issues, but it will only be 1 percent of our students.  If it is really only 1 percent 
of our students, it is not going to solve our overcrowding or our facilities issues, 
which are particularly important to us.  If, through a due process hearing, it is 
determined that the public school cannot provide the education that a student 
who is classified as special education needs, then that student's education in 
a private or other institution would be paid for 100 percent.  It would not be 
a percentage of the DSA or some certain dollar amount.  The settlements 
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generally include tuition at a school that can meet that student's needs.  I am 
not sure they would be better served under this particular setup.   
 
We have the same questions regarding whether or not the State Treasurer's 
Office is prepared to interact with parents on this level.  We work hard to have 
relationships with families in our schools.  That is special work and we have 
special people who do that.  I would hope that the State Treasurer's Office 
would be prepared to engage with families that way.   
 
We have questions about why the 100 days.  That is basically three-quarters of 
a school year.  Are we going to have an instance where students come for 
three-quarters of the year, then leave?  That seems like an arbitrary number.  
That could be disruptive to the student and the school. 
 
In terms of the way the formula or the DSA currently works, there is a count 
day in September.  If you have that student, you get the money.  If they leave 
and come back, there is no changing of that fund.  If they leave after 100 days, 
we would keep that money.  If they came back, there are questions about how 
that would work.  There is legislation that would change that to an average 
daily enrollment type of situation, which may address some of those needs, but 
that is not the current practice. 
 
If a student returned to public school or were kicked out of the private school 
for some reason, we would take that student whether or not we received the 
DSA funding for them.  There is no question of that student being served in 
terms of an educational environment.  We would like clarification on where the 
money would go that was in the savings account.  Would that come back to the 
school district?  
 
The DSA money does include, as alluded to earlier, some local funding.  It is not 
just state funding.  Inside the Nevada Plan is a portion of local property 
tax revenue and a portion of sales tax revenue.  While it is the state per pupil 
funding, there is local county-specific revenue generated in that formula. 
 
It was said that we are not taking away federal funds, but I would argue that if 
a student leaves the school district and is not accounted for, perhaps for Title I 
purposes or as a free- and reduced-lunch student, the school district would no 
longer be receiving the money to accommodate that student's poverty or 
whatever Title I money they were receiving. 
 
I would say that the WCSD knows that the school choice movement is coming.  
We have been committed to that.  We have a program for Signature Academies 
in our high schools where students can move between high schools.  We have 



Assembly Committee on Education 
May 28, 2015 
Page 35 
 
a school within a school program for our gifted students.  We have been trying 
to support school choice as much as we possibly could.   
 
As a point of context, in the WCSD, there are four accredited private high 
schools and approximately six or eight elementary and middle schools that are 
accredited by the state.  None of them are in neighborhoods where we currently 
have one- and two-star schools.  We would argue that the $5,000 likely would 
not cover the entire tuition cost, much less any costs for transportation for that 
student to attend a school even if it were nearest to their neighborhood.  
It would not be serving a low-performing neighborhood.  
 
I would hate to see students attending very high-quality public schools leaving 
to attend private schools and taking that money with them, which I do not think 
sounds like the intent of this legislation. 
 
Joyce Haldeman, Associate Superintendent, Community and Government 

Relations, Clark County School District: 
Like the Washoe County School District, the Clark County School District Board 
of Trustees adopted a platform item that is in opposition to this bill.  We agree 
with all of the comments Ms. Anderson made.  I am especially going to resist 
the temptation to brag about our robust school choice program in the CCSD and 
to tell you about all of the great options that we already provide our students. 
 
One of our concerns is that we already do not fund public schools adequately as 
it is.  Our goal should be to ensure that every student attends a school that is 
high-performing.  This bill suggests that we need to provide an exit strategy for 
some students while diverting funding from public schools, which would impact 
the ability of the school to provide a quality education to the remaining 
students.  The implication is that engaged families could flee the public school 
system, leaving behind only those unfortunate students whose parents do not 
choose to make this choice.   
 
This is promoted as a school choice bill, but I would like to remind people that 
choice is a two-way street.  Just because a student decides that he is going to 
leave a public school, it does not mean that he will be chosen by a private 
school to attend.  This might offer a false sense of hope to students.  This is 
not going to help a child living in poverty to get into The Meadows School.  
Private schools have very high standards and they are not likely to choose many 
of these students.  In the hearing on the Senate side, the proponents indicated 
that they expect a lot of private schools to "crop up" on the corner as a result 
of this bill.  Yet, there is no reason for anyone to believe that a private school 
that is cropping up because money is on the table will be an improvement over 
existing public schools.   
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Should this bill go forward, there are a couple of things we would like to 
suggest.  First, we think it should be limited to low-income families whose 
students attend the lowest-performing schools.  If this truly is to be a choice for 
students to get out of schools that are failing, let us provide it for low-income 
families and allow them to leave low-performing schools.  We think this should 
not provide an incentive for parents to keep their children out of school, and we 
think that in a very subtle way, this bill does that.   
 
We think that parents and tutors should not be on the list of providers.  That 
provides a lot of opportunities for inappropriate behavior.  We also think that the 
accountability is missing.  Public schools are very accountable, but the only 
accountability in this bill is in section 10, subsection 2, which calls for random 
audits.  Senator Hammond refers to the debit cards and talks about how they 
will be coded.  We have not had any testimony about how that mechanism 
would be set up, how it would work, or what safeguards would be there. 
 
We also have concerns about the administration of the program.  
The State Treasurer will have 3 percent of the funds to administer the program, 
but we have not heard anything from the State Treasurer on either side.  
I would personally feel better about this bill and this mechanism had there been 
some kind of testimony about how the program would be set up, how it would 
work, what kind of safeguards would be in place, and what kind of 
qualifications the State Treasurer's Office has to determine which items are 
okay to be used on the debit card and which items are not.  This seems to be 
a big chunk of this conversation that is missing.  It could potentially involve 
a lot of money that would be taken out of the DSA and placed with the 
State Treasurer's Office.  Knowing how this is going to be executed is an 
important part.  As Senator Hammond himself pointed out, the biggest problem 
in Arizona was fraud.  This is a bill that has a lot of opportunity for us to create 
fraud. 
 
When I testified on the Senate side, I was criticized because I called it a voucher 
program.  I know it is an education savings account, but if it looks like a duck, it 
looks like a duck.  
 
I would like to point out one thing regarding the Cato Institute article that 
education savings accounts have the same problems as regular vouchers.  In the 
article the author, Adam B. Schaeffer, refers to ESAs as vouchers and talks 
about the fact that this is still a third-party payer system that uses government 
funds.  It is not a savings account that people who have earned the money have 
put into the account.  The author talks about the legal threats based on the 
restricted use of government funds and the regulatory burdens this kind of 
program creates.  I would like to read one quote to you from his article.   
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Long-term complications and problems are likely to arise with the 
use of third-party ESAs.  Because unused funds revert at some 
point to the state (as they are not personal savings), individuals will 
not manage the accounts as they would HSAs [health savings 
accounts] and actual education savings accounts.  Many families 
will likely spend out each year rather than shopping for value as 
promoters of HSAs suggest will occur.  Alternatively, if some 
families do save excess funds from early years, they will likely 
over-consume in late high school or college because the money will 
otherwise revert to the state.  It is not difficult to imagine all 
manner of problems this scenario could produce, from simple 
waste to various kickback schemes through which a person can 
cash out their government education accounts.  Management of 
fraud and abuse will be extremely difficult in a large-scale, fully 
developed ESA system that relies on government, third-party 
funding. 

 
We truly do not believe this bill will help low-income families get their students 
into better schools.  We do think it will lead to paying some parents to 
homeschool their students.  We think it will also provide payments to some 
wealthy families who are already planning to send their children to private 
schools and who can already afford to do so.  
 
Before we agree to divert public dollars away from public schools, let us do the 
right thing and fund public schools adequately so all students can enjoy the 
benefits. 
 
Assemblyman Edwards: 
I have a lot of families who are middle-class in my district.  You made 
a statement that you want this to be focused on the poorer families.  
Why should my middle-class parents be excluded? 
 
Joyce Haldeman: 
If the focus of this program was to help students in low-income families be able 
to get to higher-performing schools, then we would not be in opposition. 
 
Assemblyman Edwards: 
I believe our middle-class families are just as deserving as anybody else.  This 
program, as it is being put forth, can be used by the poor, the middle-class, or 
the wealthy—everyone.  That is a better way to go.  It is more appropriate. 
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Mary Pierczynski, representing Nevada Association of School Superintendents: 
We are also in opposition to Senate Bill 302 (2nd Reprint).  Many of our 
concerns are questions that have already come from the Committee members.  
I want to thank my two colleagues for bringing up many of the issues we had.  
 
I want to mention our concerns regarding accountability of the money.  There 
have been other ESAs around the country and that has been an issue.  I agree 
with Ms. Haldeman, it would be nice to hear from the State Treasurer's Office 
how this is going to happen. 
 
Private schools do get money.  I am not hearing that religious schools are ruled 
out, and one of our basic tenets of our country is a separation of church and 
state.   
 
Students using the ESAs do have to take tests, and the test results are reported 
in aggregate, but in the public schools when students do not perform well on 
the tests, there are consequences for the teachers and the school.  I am not 
hearing what the consequences are if students are not performing well on the 
tests where tax dollars are going to these programs—the mathematics and the 
English language arts they are being tested on.  If they are not doing well, what 
is the consequence for that?  Do they stay in that program? 
 
It has been stated that the DSA payment is around $5,000, but in our rural 
districts where there are private schools it is more than that because of the 
economy of scale.  Nye County for instance, which has a private school, is over 
$7,000.  Many of our rural counties have $6,000 to $8,000 DSA payments.  
It is not just a $5,000 issue. 
 
Assemblyman Gardner: 
You mentioned accountability, and you said we currently have a ton of 
accountability.  I do not agree with that.  If we are 50th in the country in 
education and we are spending $8.4 billion in education every biennium, and 
you are saying that if students are not performing well, we have consequences, 
I would like to hear what those consequences are.  I have not seen any.   
 
Mary Pierczynski: 
With our Nevada Educator Performance Framework there are consequences for 
our teachers.  There are certainly some heavy-duty consequences coming up 
with 40 percent of their evaluations in the next couple of years based on how 
our students perform.  Our schools are also rated one-, two-, three-star schools 
and all of those, if nothing else, are public relations issues for our students.  
I believe there are consequences for our educators now. 
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Assemblyman Gardner: 
None of the teachers, administrators, or the schools that you are talking about 
can be kicked out of a program.  What is the actual consequence? 
 
Joyce Haldeman: 
This year in the Clark County School District, about 100 teacher contracts were 
not renewed because of the accountability system that is in place now.  It is 
something that was adopted in 2011, and it took us a few years to work our 
way through it, but it is now in place.   
 
Lindsay Anderson: 
I would add that if nothing else, there is a label attached to a school that is 
low-performing.  They talked about administering a national norm-referenced 
test, which is different than criterion-referenced tests administered for public 
schools.  I am not sure if we would be able to compare apples to apples.  
Perhaps we would feel better if the private schools were reporting on a school 
basis what those test results were for the students at those schools.  At least 
there would be some sunshine on how those students were performing 
academically on the norm-referenced tests that were administered. 
 
Assemblyman Hickey: 
I want to acknowledge and thank each of you and the school districts you 
represent.  Your point about the money that is leaving is well made to me.  
I would probably have some hesitation about this bill had we not made, the 
state and this body, the commitment that we have made to public education in 
this upcoming biennium in the budget that we expect to pass.  I appreciate the 
things you have done—the schools within schools, the magnets, and the 
reforms and responsiveness to the challenges we face.  Should this program go 
forward, it will be another element that will challenge and hopefully bring about 
some improvements in the lives of students who need it and qualify. 
 
I have some reservations to the degree in which homeschooling families might 
qualify for this, or if they really can, that it is properly administered.  I do worry 
about the possibilities there.  Many families that choose to homeschool their 
children for all of the various reasons are not necessarily doing it because of 
money.  That is a choice they have, and I do not know that they need to be 
rewarded. 
 
Assemblywoman Swank: 
It sounds like a very large amount of money when we say how much we spend 
on education every year, but if we increased the amount of money we spend in 
Nevada on education by 57 percent, we would be at the national average.  
Am I about right? 
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Joyce Haldeman: 
I do not know the exact number, but it is no secret that we are funded at the 
bottom in terms of per pupil funding. 
 
Jessica Ferrato, representing Nevada Association of School Boards: 
I echo all of the comments that have been expressed.  My board has taken 
a  position in opposition to any public funding going to private schools.  
I do want to talk about fraud.  I think people were talking more about fraud from 
the standpoint of parents.  I think that we also need to consider the option that 
private schools just do not have as many eyes on them, and these are public 
dollars.  In a public school system, there are multiple sets of eyes looking on 
money when it goes into the public school.  We have no control when the 
money goes into a private school and what that private school decides to use 
that money for.  They have seen fraud in other states in the same areas, so that 
is a concern of ours.   
 
Obviously the biggest concern from our perspective is this.  I think the intent of 
the bill is to target lower-performing schools.  We have been talking about 
children in poverty, but it is more about low-achievement schools and people 
being dissatisfied with those schools.  This bill does not address that.  In those 
situations, the schools are not located in the same areas where low-performing 
schools are.  In addition, it will put some families that are either on the cusp of 
being able to afford private school or are already able and enable them to use 
funding for that.   
 
Last, we do have concerns about the opt-in homeschool students being included 
in this bill.  There is no accountability for how they spend that money and as 
these are state funds, we think there should be accountability. 
 
Ruben Murillo, Jr., President, Nevada State Education Association: 
I am also a special education teacher.  I am in opposition to S.B. 302 (R2).  
Private schools have a choice as to who attends based on selection criteria.  
Most of them also have exclusive admissions policies and charge tuition fees in 
excess of what is provided by the voucher.  Private schools are institutions, just 
as public schools are.  I went to a Catholic high school.  I know what an 
institution is.  Most educational legislation that has been talked about this 
session has been on how to improve our most at-risk schools.  What kind of 
programs do we need that we have identified and you have discussed through 
Committee work?  English language learners, Breakfast After the Bell, peer 
assistance and review, and professional development.  A lot of the bills that 
have been passed have been targeted to at-risk schools.  Many of you have told 
me that you will wait to decide how to vote on certain programs until you see 
where the money is coming from.  My question is, if you are going to wait to 
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see where the money is coming from, and you really believe in these programs, 
how can you take money out of the public schools and allow it to go to private 
schools when all of these programs need to be funded and we are actually 
targeting the most at-risk schools?   
 
What is the data on the graduation rates in Arizona and Tennessee?  What is 
the progress of the students?  Are they still in private schools?  Did they drop 
out?  Why did they drop out?  I came from one of those neighborhoods you are 
talking about in terms of children having a second opportunity.  I grew up in 
a low-income area in Kansas.  In the ninth grade, my parents decided to send 
me to Catholic high school.  I am a product of public and Catholic high schools.  
If you have never done that, you have no idea what kind of a transition it is, 
what kind of a cultural shock it is, or what kind of challenges there are for those 
of us who were making that transition.  Out of the ten of us in the 
predominately Mexican-American neighborhood who went to the Catholic high 
school, only two of us graduated.  The rest of them did not.  The lady who 
spoke earlier said that public schools failed her child.  Private schools failed my 
friends and also failed my nephew who had learning disabilities.  Trinity High 
School was not capable of handling those disabilities.  He became chronically 
disordered and was kicked out of private school.  He got the support he needed 
from the public schools.   
 
I am very concerned that rather than waste the tax dollars on voucher programs 
that take money from public schools, undermine civil rights, and are ineffective 
and unaccountable, policy makers should focus on adequate funding and 
improving Nevada's public schools. 
 
Erin Bilbray, representing Nevada State Education Association: 
I am also here as the proud mother of two children in public school in the 
CCSD.  I am also in opposition of Senate Bill 302 (2nd Reprint).  I believe it is 
taking away funds that are much needed in our public schools.  Many of the 
things I am concerned about have already been addressed so I will be brief.   
 
This bill says that private schools should expect $50,000 or more per year 
coming to them.  It could be much more than that.  I do not think it is 
appropriate for schools like Bishop Gorman or The Meadows to be receiving 
hundreds of thousands of dollars in public funding.  In addition, I agree with 
Assemblyman Anderson that the bill's language does state that parents could 
receive approximately $5,000 per year to homeschool their child.  If what 
Senator Hammond is saying is correct, that it is purchasing curriculum, let us 
talk about that also.  Who is to say that the curriculum being purchased is 
correct?  Is it based on sound science and sound education curriculum, or is it 
based on someone's opinion?  Let us make sure that someone in the 
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State Treasurer's Office that is overseeing that decision has some expertise 
when it comes to education policy.  When we take risks like these with our 
children, we have a chance of losing them forever.  If we put them in places 
that do not have a curriculum based on sound science and math, we might not 
ever get them back. 
 
A few years ago my husband and I—he is Jewish, and I am Catholic—were 
discussing sending one of our daughters to a religious school that had 
a reputation for good education.  We were told that in fifth grade part of the 
curriculum was to read the book The Diary of Anne Frank.  I do not think there 
is anyone here who would not agree that that is an appropriate book to read.  
However, we were also told that part of that curriculum was that because of 
the choices of Anne Frank and her family, they would not be welcomed into 
heaven.  I do not think that public funds should be used for that type of 
curriculum.  This legislation does not account for any of that.  Therefore, I am 
strongly opposed to S.B. 302 (R2).  
 
Stacey Shinn, representing Progressive Leadership Alliance of Nevada: 
We strongly oppose and have many questions regarding this legislation.  First, 
we are against taking money from public schools and giving it to the private 
sector.  I see this as taking from low-income children who still cannot afford 
private schools even with the vouchers.  If the average price of private 
elementary schools in the United States is $7,700 per year and the average 
cost of private high schools is over $13,000, I am not sure how these lower-
income students would be able to go to these schools. 
 
Second, I could not find one other state with vouchers without eligibility 
requirements.  Looking at examples of these requirements there were students 
with disabilities, IEPs, students living within a certain percentage of the poverty 
level, or living in a neighborhood where their public school was performing 
under average. 
 
Finally, where is the separation of church and state here if 85 percent of our 
private schools are religious? 
 
Angie Sullivan, Private Citizen, Las Vegas, Nevada: 
I am a public school teacher and teach in an at-risk school in Las Vegas.  I am 
very worried about money at all times, mainly because I do not have any in my 
classroom.  I buy my own paper, my own books, and a lot of my own supplies, 
as well as run my own copies.  I carefully monitor the money.  I would love for 
everybody to have their own choice because people would be happier.  
The bottom line is, when we do not have the basics for the children who are the 
most at risk, I cannot in good conscience not speak out against funding 
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someone's personal choice.  I am very worried about children who are not going 
to make it.  When I do not have what I need in my classroom and the children 
do not have what they need to be able to get the basics to even graduate with 
a high school diploma, I am very worried.  Our state has made choices that have 
starved our public education system, and that has led to more dissatisfied 
people.  I am hopeful for the future that we can do something so that our public 
schools improve to the point where we do not have to hear sad testimony from 
people who, rightfully so, want the best for their children. 
 
For civil rights, human rights, and for decency, we have to pay the bills first.  
We do not buy the Cadillac for one person here and there when most people are 
walking without shoes.  I have to speak up for my students because their 
parents are people you will not see here, but someone has to advocate for them 
and has to say that before we fund someone's personal choice, we need to 
make sure everybody has at least enough. 
 
Chair Woodbury: 
Is there anyone else in either location wishing to testify in opposition?  [There 
was no one.]  Is there anyone in either location wishing to testify as neutral? 
 
Peggy Lear Bowen, Private Citizen, Reno, Nevada: 
The Report Card on American Education, 19th Edition, put out by the American 
Legislative Exchange Council in October 2014, indicates that we may have been 
misled.  I am reading from a letter from the editor.  The report card says we are 
meeting the needs of alternative education in the state of Nevada at number 12, 
not 35th, 45th, or 50th.  I am not saying test scores; I am saying meeting the 
criteria for education for alternative education.  The criteria analyzed in this 
report were state academic standards, private school choice programs, charter 
schools, teacher quality, online learning, and homeschool regulation burdens.  
Those areas are directly related to what this state now provides under its 
existing codes and regulations in statutes for alternative schools.   
 
I worked for 12 years with the homeschoolers within the state of Nevada.  
I was the State Board of Education liaison to the homeschoolers.  We worked 
with them to work on legislation that allowed them to meet their needs and to 
provide the education to their children—our Nevada children inclusive—for them 
to get done what they wanted to do.  We undid what they considered some 
burdensome regulation to the point that they felt very comfortable.  In fact, 
when I retired, they gave me a great award. 
 
In my first meeting, first day, the chairman said to me that I was bought and 
paid for by the Nevada State Education Association and what are you doing 
here?  I told the chairman that I cared about children, including yours, so let us 
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get to work and see what we can do.  They gave the newbies on the 
State  Board of Education the "hot potato" of homeschoolers.  We actually 
worked together to accomplish, under existing state statute, our goal.  I was 
told that I had gotten 99 percent of the pie, but to remember that the pie was 
not very big. 
 
I know most of you have read this legislation thoroughly and are still wondering 
about how you are going to vote on this bill, but I am telling you that in this 
published report, they are saying that Nevada is ranked 12th among 50 on how 
well we are supporting alternative education.  You might reconsider not putting 
this kind of funding into other alternative education or encouraging alternative 
education, because what is education in the state of Nevada?  It is for the 
whole Nevada family and we are doing the job we need to do and utilizing the 
minimum amount of money that we do have to do our public school a service.  
Remember, Washoe County School District said after the 2011 Session that 
they only have one school left that is a one-star school.  They have been 
following your direction and making the growth and gains that you wanted them 
to make.  I hope you allow that to continue. 
 
Chair Woodbury: 
Is there anyone else that would like to testify as neutral?  [There was no one.]  
Senator Hammond, would you like to make closing comments?  [He did not.]  
I am going to close the hearing on Senate Bill 302 (2nd Reprint).   
 
I would like to place some of the bills on work session and suspend Rule No. 57 
of Assembly Resolution 1.  I will start with Senate Bill 128 (2nd Reprint). 
Senate Bill 128 (2nd Reprint):  Revises provisions relating to the Governor Guinn 

Millennium Scholarship. (BDR 34-96) 
 
Chair Woodbury: 
I will accept a motion to do pass. 
 

ASSEMBLYMAN GARDNER MADE A MOTION TO DO PASS 
SENATE BILL 128 (2ND REPRINT). 
 
ASSEMBLYMAN STEWART SECONDED THE MOTION. 
 

Is there any discussion on the motion?  [There was none.]  
 
THE MOTION PASSED.  (ASSEMBLYWOMAN SWANK WAS 
ABSENT FOR THE VOTE.) 
 

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/78th2015/Bill/1448/Overview/
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Assemblyman Gardner will take the floor statement.  I am going to move to 
Senate Bill 302 (2nd Reprint). 
  
Senate Bill 302 (2nd Reprint):  Establishes a program by which a child who 

receives instruction from a certain entity rather than from a public school 
may receive a grant of money in an amount equal to a certain percentage 
of the statewide average basic support per-pupil. (BDR 34-567) 

 
I will accept a motion to do pass. 
 

ASSEMBLYMAN EDWARDS MADE A MOTION TO DO PASS 
SENATE BILL 302 (2ND REPRINT). 
 
ASSEMBLYMAN GARDNER SECONDED THE MOTION. 
 

Is there any discussion on the motion? 
 
Assemblyman Elliot T. Anderson:  
With all due respect to Senator Hammond, I think this is not well thought out.  
It is a reckless concept to potentially allow homeschool parents, at least 
partially, to have this kind of money.  It is unconstitutional because it can go to 
a religious school.  There are so many issues with this bill that I am a strong no.  
I think we should invest in public education before we try measures like this. 
 
Assemblywoman Diaz:  
I echo my colleague's comments.  These are public dollars and we have to be 
good stewards of these public monies.  Our public education system is held to 
more stringent and higher standards and those should apply if we are using the 
monies toward this end.  The same standards for one should be used for all. 
 
Chair Woodbury: 
Is there any further discussion?  [There was none.] 
 

THE MOTION PASSED.  (ASSEMBLYMEN ELLIOT T. ANDERSON, 
DIAZ, FLORES, JOINER, AND MUNFORD VOTED NO.  
ASSEMBLYWOMAN SWANK WAS ABSENT FOR THE VOTE.) 
 

Assemblyman Edwards will take the floor statement. 
 
We have Senate Bill 509 (2nd Reprint) on a work session and we will have 
Patrick Gavin walk through some of the amendments with us. 
  

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/78th2015/Bill/1857/Overview/
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Senate Bill 509 (2nd Reprint):  Makes various changes to provisions governing 

charter schools. (BDR 34-1090) 
 
Kristin Rossiter, Committee Policy Analyst: 
Senate Bill 509 (2nd Reprint) was heard in this Committee on May 27, 2015 
and was sponsored by the Senate Committee on Education.  There are proposed 
conceptual amendments and there is a fiscal effect on the state.  [Read from 
work session document (Exhibit H).] 
 
Chair Woodbury: 
There is another green paper for you that includes the amendments that were 
offered by Mr. Gavin in yesterday's hearing and have since been smoothed out 
(Exhibit I). 
 
Patrick Gavin, Director, State Public Charter School Authority: 
The changes that are suggested and that I have worked closely with this body 
on are as follows (Exhibit J):  First, it changes the three consecutive one-star 
ratings to three within a five-year period, increasing accountability.  If someone 
goes up and then back down, we can still intervene if we need to.  Second, it 
clarifies that you cannot reconstitute a one-star school more than one time.  
That is to prevent sponsors from not making tough decisions and delaying the 
decisions. 
 
Third, it clarifies that, because of the pause in accountability this year due to 
the changes in state testing regimens, the 2014-2015 school year does not 
count as one of the consecutive years.  Those are the three changes that were 
made to this section.  I hope they meet with the approval of this body. 
 
The change in section 47 is more extensive.  It does two things.  It leaves the 
existing statutory provisions for licensure for most schools.  It says if you are 
a three-star or above for two consecutive years, then you are not bound by the 
licensure requirements but only by the "highly qualified" guidelines.  This 
provides an incentive for performance.  Schools will have more flexibility if they 
do better.  It also provides penalties because if you do well but go down again, 
you have to start hiring licensed teachers again.  It also specifically requires that 
if you are a special education teacher or a teacher of English language learners, 
you must be licensed because those are areas where there is a lot of state 
complexity and state regulation.  This applies not only to existing charter 
schools in this state but also to schools that are coming in from out of state 
that have an equivalent rating.  If this were a KIPP school or an Aspire Public 
School coming from California that is performing at the equivalent of 
a three-star level or above, they would automatically be eligible for this 
provision.  This mirrors the provision in our bonding legislation that says if you 

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/78th2015/Bill/2238/Overview/
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/78th2015/Exhibits/Assembly/ED/AED1392H.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/78th2015/Exhibits/Assembly/ED/AED1392I.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/78th2015/Exhibits/Assembly/ED/AED1392J.pdf
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were a high-performing school from out of state and you come here and 
replicate your school, then you are eligible for bonding from day one.  We want 
to make this consistent and also incentivize good performance. 
 
Finally, I worked closely with Assemblywoman Diaz on this last matter, and 
I appreciate her thoughts on this.  If clarifies that this is a flexible issue for 
schools.  They can either do licensure or they can do highly qualified.  There 
may be schools, for example, that want to stay with licensure because they like 
it.  Or, there may be cases where they want to stay with licensure and not in 
others.  Also, it requires that schools that do this must, within three years, 
apply to and be accepted by the Department of Education or partner with an 
alternate route to licensure provider or any one of the providers we hope will 
come in because of the Great Teaching and Leading Fund.  A school could 
actually apply for this funding.  Our hope is that this will allow for many more 
providers of licensure and more innovative approaches. 
 
Assemblyman Stewart:  
Is there anything in this bill about schools that I call "last chance" schools?  
Those would be schools that are making improvement but still do not get up to 
a two- or three-star status because they have such a difficult student body to 
deal with? 
 
Patrick Gavin: 
No, there is not.  There is another bill, Senate Bill 460, which directly deals with 
that issue in statute should that bill pass.  Also, I have been working closely 
with the Department of Education to adopt an alternative performance 
framework for schools that serve the kinds of opportunity populations that you 
are talking about.  It is our view that the State Board of Education already has 
the authority to do that.  It is simply a matter of not wanting to adopt rules and 
then having to come back when changes have been made.  Either way, we are 
in a good position to be able to adopt policies that will allow us to hold schools 
accountable for what they are actually doing for our children. 
 
Assemblyman Stewart:  
I would strongly recommend that you do that because these schools are 
working hard and making progress with the students and they are not getting 
credit for it. 
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Assemblywoman Diaz:  
I want to thank Mr. Gavin for working out our concerns.  It is important that we 
try to hire as many licensed teachers as we are able to.  If they are not licensed 
when they first come to us, it is important that we get them licensed  
eventually.  I appreciate your flexibility, and I hope that our intent matches the 
language.  I will be voting on this bill, but I will reserve my right to change my 
vote on the floor. 
 
Assemblywoman Joiner: 
Likewise, these are the sections I was concerned with yesterday.  I appreciate 
the work of everyone in coming to a compromise in a way that I feel 
comfortable with.  I also reserve the right to change my vote on the floor in 
case the language does not turn out.   
 
Assemblyman Elliot T. Anderson:  
I want to echo comments, and particularly give Mr. Gavin his due credit for 
working hard to compromise.  It is not always easy.  I want to clarify that we 
would also have to amend section 29 for the revocation language of the bill.  
Although it is not provided for in the mock-up, they are parallel sections that we 
put in last session because of the change from a charter contract.  Could we 
have legal counsel clarify that?   
 
Karly O'Krent, Committee Counsel: 
Yes, that is correct. 
 
Chair Woodbury: 
Are there any questions for Mr. Gavin?  [There were none.]  I will accept 
a motion to amend and do pass Senate Bill 509 (2nd Reprint). 
 

ASSEMBLYMAN ARMSTRONG MADE A MOTION TO AMEND AND 
DO PASS SENATE BILL 509 (2ND REPRINT). 
 
ASSEMBLYWOMAN SHELTON SECONDED THE MOTION. 
 

Is there any discussion on the motion?  [There was none.] 
 

THE MOTION PASSED.  (ASSEMBLYWOMAN SWANK WAS 
ABSENT FOR THE VOTE.) 
 

Assemblywoman Shelton will take the floor statement.  Is there anyone here for 
public comment? 
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Assemblyman Flores: 
Madam Chair, I apologize.  When you asked for comment during the discussion 
about Senate Bill 128 (2nd Reprint), I did not raise my hand quickly enough.  
Senator Woodhouse mentioned the possibility of working with me on an 
amendment that I proposed or of having a conversation with me.  I want to 
have that conversation with her.  I also want to reserve my right to change my 
vote on the floor, in case the amendment does not go through as we discussed. 
 
Chair Woodbury: 
Meeting adjourned [at 7:22 p.m.]. 
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